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This is an oral history interview with Mr, H. Struve Hensel, held in
Washington, D.C., on October 26, 1983, at 2:00 P.M. We will bagin first

by focusing on Mr, Hensel's role ss General Counsel in the Off{ce of the
Secretary of Defense, & position he held between August 1953 and March 1954.
Matloff: Mr. Hensel, I wonder if you could begin by telling us something
about how the position of General Counsel was established., Wers yon drawn
in on the background discussions? Whar role did you play in settiong up the
office, since this was a new position?

Hensel: The concept originated, really, in the Navy Department, when I
first suggested to Secretary Forrestal the idea of a civilian organization
of lawyers that would represent the government in desling with industry,

in conmection with the procuremeat of materials and services. It was
carried over to the War Department with a somewhat modified approach.

When the Department of Defense wam established, ir was also brought in to
that Departmant. So it really existed in a form when I first came into

the Defense Department. The Genaral Counsel was not s presidential
appointee at that time. He became that later, When I was asked to

succeed the thenm—exiating Genmeral Counsel, we atarted off by making a
review of the Defense Department under a committee that was headed by
Nelson Rockefeller. I started out a8 counsgel to that committee. In the
work of that committee, we provided for a number of assilstant secretaries
of defenase with specific jobs. The general counsel was to be the equivalent
cf-an asaistant secretary and a presidential appointee., He would have a

number of assistant general counsela that would be counnsel in fact to
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all these new assistant secretaries of defense that were recommended by
Rockefeller and sdopted by the Eisenhower administration.

Metloff: Was this part of Reorganiration Plan Nuwmber 67

Hensel: I don't remember rhe number now, but it was the reorgauization
plan.

Matloff: This is the way it has come down.

Hensel: 1 think that probably the most important part of that early step
was the establishment of the power of the Secretary of Defense. There
had grown up in the esrlier administration [the Truman administration]--
I think even when Lovett was there-—the notion that the statute left a
number of gray areas of authority. I remember officials’ using the term
"gray"--specifically with regard to the Secretary's not having control
over the constituent services. 1 did not share that view. I felt that
the atatute had made him the absclute executive so far as the three
services were concerned, subject, of course, only to the Preaident. As
one of our first jobs Frank Brown, who had been there, and I wrote an
cpinion stating that the Secretary of Defense had complete snd final
authority subject only to the President. I discovered during the war,
in my period in the Navy, that, in the government, if yvou assert authority
and make it stick, you have it. We asserted it. From then on there was
no more talk of "gray™ areas.

Matloff: Focueing on the position of Gemeral Coumsel, do you recall
what the responsibilities of that office were to be?

Hensel: I think it was a very short directive. A I remember {it, it

assigned full responsibility for all legal matters in the Department of

2
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Defense and the three services., 1 set about to appoint general counsels
in the diffarsnt services,
Matloff: Your appointment came from the Secretary of Defense?
Hensel: From the President., When the reorganixation plan was adopted,
the General Counsel bacame the equivalent of an assistant secretary, and
was appointed by the President,
Mgtloff: Were sny instructions or directives given to you at the time
that you took over?
Hensel: Just that general one assigniug respoueiblity for the legal affairs.
Matloff: Can you tell me a little about how you organized your office?
HBangel: I organized it with the concept of a very small central office. I
think, a8 a metter of fact, that Prank Brown was the only other lawyer in that
central office., Then we bad individual lawyers attached to each assistant
secretary of defunse and in the thrae services. I dida't continuously
suparvise the three services. 1 let those run essentially by themselves,
although I did have a reaponsibility for them., They did check in with
me from time to time., I kept in rather close contact with the men
who repreusented and advised the different assistant secretaries,
Matloff: This was in the 0ffice of the Secretary of Defense iltself?
Hensel: Tas.
Matloff: How about your relations to the Secretary of Defense aud the
Deputy Secretary of Defense? Were you in frequent contact with them?
Hangel: Yes. 1 was the only counsel they had.
Matloff: What kind of problems did you face, when you took over as the

first General Counael of the Office of the Secretary of Defense?

(Y
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Beusel: The main problem was the establishment of the asthority of the
Secretary of Defense, which I've just briefly described. I am sure that
the opinioa letter is still knocking arcund the Department and iz part
of the Bible. There weren't any other serious probleme that I can now
remenbar. We did not get into the questions of pay and various emoluments
to the uniformed mervices. Those were handled by the Judge Advocate
Generals. But we did all of the civilian work, notably guestions of
legislation and the procurement of materiel and services.

Matloff: What do you feel that you accomplished in the position?

Hensel: I would say the greatest accomplishment was the establishment of
the authority of the Secretary of Defense, which is settled for all

time.

Matloff: Iat me turn mow to your other role, the position as the Aseiutant
Sacretary of Defense for Intercatienal Security Affairs, ian which you
served from March 1954 to June 1955. I wonder if you can recall the
circumstances of your appolntment to that position. What imstructions

or directives, written or oral, were given to you, and by whom?

Hensel: Do your remember the name of the man that held the job before I
da1d?

Matloff; Frank Nash.

Hemsel: Yes, Fraok Nash., I had known Frank Nagh from the Navy days.
Frank wanted to return to business life and Wilson [Charles Wilsom],

who was then the Secretary of Defense, asked me if I would take on the

job that Frank had beern handling. X agreed. Just about that time the
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McCarthy problem broke, and 1 was named as one of the principal agents of
his attempted destruction. Consequently, for a period of time I could not
deal with either being General Counsel or taking oo the mnew job of Assistant
Secretary of Defense. The assistaut secretary of defense in charge of inter—
vational security affairs operated in the fileld of liaison with the State
Departmeut as 8 policy conduit, and also in administering the buge milirtary
ald program. He therefore hed a combination of policy and sdmiuistrative
work. When Hash left, I was involved in the McCarthy hearings.
Matloff: Had you become a target?
Hensel: Yes. I wes named ag one of the principal men that were trylug to
interfere with his operations. So I was involved in the heariunga all the
way through until I was fipally diemissed, when they realized that McCarthy
had nothing, and had just trumped up the charges to etir up trouble. During
that interval, Roger Kyes, who was the Deputy Secretary of Defenae, had
reviewed the Nash setup, and had prepared a reorganization chart, which
Wilgou handed to me. I said that I could not commwent on it because I did
not know anything about if, and that I would not comment on it uatil T had a
chance at least to tslk to the State Department, John Foster Dulles was
than Secretary of State, I had known him in the practice of law in New
York. As & matter of fact, he interviewed me for & job when I came out of
law school, and I went iustead to a rival firm. I wanted to talk to hinm,
and I alaoc wanted to make a2 survey of how we were adminigtering our Job in
the field. Until that time, I couldn't comment on it. Wilson said, "Well,

Ok, you go ahead and make your trip and make your contacts.”™ T di1d., 1
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traveled to Europe and got as far eaat as Conatantinople, with an entourage.

I had appointed a fellow by the name of Wendell Anderson to be my representative
at NATO in Paris, and he and his wife went with me. Coming back, we stopped

at his place in Bermuda, flew down some secretaries, and lafd out a progran

of how we thought it ought to be administered. Our approach was quite different
from Kyes' concept. We thought we were in great shape. We handed the program
to Wilson when we got off the plane and said, “There it iz."™ He did not

like £t at all. I can't remember the detailsg, but 1t wae a question of tha
responsibility and procedure on transmitting the orders and of the extent to
which we would allow the program to he originated in the field. Wilson and

I had a very bad time about 1t. So much so that I contemplated resigning.

Bob Anderson persuaded me not to, He said, "Why don't you go take a vacation?”
I went out West and did some fiehing for a while.

Matloff: Anderson had succeeded Kyes by then?

Heusel: TYee. When I came back, Andersoun called me aud said, "I want you to
come and see Wilson, and please keep your mouth shut. I've got it all worked

-

out. 50 I came up. Wilsou was all smilas, and replied, "Stu, you kunow you
never explaioed this thing to me properly.” I replied, "I'm gure of that, or
else I'd have sold it,” He went on to say, "Why dida't you tell me that it
wag juast like the General Motors export corporation?” T said, "The only
trouble was that I didn't konow anything about a General Motors export corpor-—
ation.” He said that the program was perfectly clear and that it was fiune.

Off we went, I thizk that it worked out very well. I doun't know what it ia

like now. I koow that they've aplit the sctivity iato policy aand administration,



Page determined to be Unclassified
Reviewad Chief, RDD, WMS
iAW EO 13526, Segtioh 3.5

Ut pAPR 0 8 2013

which we didn't have. 1 had quite e different concept. I wanted policy
pade in the State Department. Ny thought was that State was responsidble for
international affairs, and that we were regponsible for carrying out vhat
State wanted to accomplish.

Matloff: Basically an implementing sgency, then.

Henmel: Exactly. I didn't think that we were into politics. HNow it seems
to me that they are up to their ears into international politica.

Matloff: Whet eubstantive problems did you face when you took over?
Hensel: We had not restored moveroignty to Germany and so one of the early
problems we faced on the policy end was the restoration of acvereignty to
Germeny and the extent to which we would meke contributions and help Germany
rears. On the program end it was a question of trying to figure ocut a year
in advance what wonld be needed to help the naticnm who were sllied with us
prepere to establish control over their own countries. That was the case in
Iran. I remember that 2 few hundred miles from Tehran there was no law and
order at rll, and the country didn't have ihe capability of maintaining it.
To try to say specifically what would be needed a year in advance wes almost
impoaaible, if not completely impossidle. Horeover, I wanted to introduce
some flexibility into the programs. That wes very, very difficult in dealing
with Congress. Congressmen wanted to know how many tanks we were going to
buy. My whole point was that meny times I didn't know if any were going to
be bought and that we jumt could not get into that kind of a rigid box.

I didn’t sucosed in that respect, end we had a lot of rigidity. It made for

a lot of trouble. Probleme would arise and pations would come to the United
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States and deal with Eisenhower and Wilson, who, without saying anything to
me, would agree to give them certain things which I didn't have in the budget.
Also oa the policy end it was in the same time that we set up the Southeast
Asia Tresty Organization. Those were the major things. Involved was & question
of relations with the State Department and, believe me, the State Department
was not anxious to announce policy.

Matloff: You've touched on some of those major problems, and I hope we'll
come back to them in some detail as we go along. Let me ask you, while

we're on the question of the original appointment to the position, what in
your background did you feel proved useful? Was your prior association with
the Navy, for example, as Assistant Secretary of the Navy, or your experience
as Genaral Counsel, a help or a handicap?

Hensel: A great deal of help. When I first came into the Navy Dapartmeut,
just before the begioning of the war, I did not really know anything about
government. it was, fortumately, a pericd when everything was being reorganized.
The old buresucratic system was not capable of fighting a war. So I learned
the business from the ground up, and did know something about government
adwiaistration and relations with Congress. Forrestal was a great teacher.

S0 I'd say that it was extremely helpful. I think that's the reason that

Kyes came to ne.

Matloff: Let me ask you the same question about the staff that we raised
before. How much leeway did you have in selecting and organizing your staff?
Hensel: I funsisted on complete leeway. There was one political effort to

place somebody~—no really to displace somebody that was there and who is
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still there, by the name of Leonard Niederlehner. len was an extremely
capable fellow and knew the business pretty thoroughly, but he voted in Ohio
and had voted for Stevenson. The Ohio representative wanted the job. I
sald, "You are going to have to £ill two jobs if you want that one.” I sat
down and talked to him, and I think I really persuaded the fellow that he
was off on the wrong track and that we needed capable men no matter what
their policics.

Matloff: Did you change the organization or procedures in any significant
way from what they had been?

Beosel: The idea of these assistant general counsels adviging assistant
secretaries was brand new. 1 dide’t change anything. I eatablished them.
Matloff: Let'es ehift to the question of your working relarionships with the
top officials in OSD in this capacity as head of the ISA organizatiocn. Lat's
start at the top, with Secretary Wilson, and with the Deputy Secretary, for
example, Anderson.

Hensel: First Kyes, aud then Anderson. Kyes was st{l]l there for a short
period of time.

Matloff: How often did you see these two gentlemen fn their of ficial capacities?
How close were you with them?

Hensel: I was very close to Bob Anderson, with whom I had a great deal of
rapport. Wilson and I did not mee eye to eye on anything. BSo0 1t was far
better that I not see him.

Matloff: Did you enjoy working for Wilson?

Benssl: No. I think that Wilson was an extraordinarily limited man. He had

grown up in General Motors. I think that his great comment, that if I had only

)
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told him that it wae just like the Gemeral Motors export c¢orporation, explained
the whole thing., He was not terribly articulate, At least I did not thick

80. You may remember that great story, the great hullabaloo, that he said,
"What is good for General Motora is good for the country.” It was changed,
largely by Wilfred McNeil, to say, “What is good for the country 1s good for
General Motors.” That isa't what Wilson meant at all., Xe dida't mean that
what bensfite General Motors will bemefit the country, What he meant was

that General Motors is the biggest Industriasl organization in the world, and
has the most efficient approach to everything. Therefore, what works well

in General Meotors, adainistratively and organizationally, will work well in

the country. I don't know why that was never reslly expiained. I guess

that tha pspers did not want to explain it that way. 1t was auch more fun

to talk about it the other way. But I think it was an illustration of Wilson's
approach. If he couldu't draw an analogy to General Motors, he was lost.

He could deal with the Russians, because they were like the labor unions.

You give them a little something, and then they are very gquiet. I did not
think that be was a good man for the job.

Matloff: Then you were dealing mostly with the other deputy secretary, with
Aodersoa.

Hensel: As a matter of fact, once we had eatablished the setup that I had

ia mind, I was left pretty much alone. I would say that I saw Bob Auderson,
quite frequently, because we were friends, in addition to being in the businesa
together, But I had my closest contacts, I guess, with Johu Foster Tulles and

with Beb Murphy in the State Department.

[ o
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¥atloff: How ambout your relations with the military services? With the
service secretaries, for example? Did you have any dealings with Secretary
of the Army Stevens, Secretary of the Navy Thomas, Secretary of the Alr
Palbot?

Henmel: Yes. I would say that they were uniformly good. Stevenm, of course,
as you know, was caught in the MeCarthy affair, so that his usefulness was
badly damaged. Charlis Thomas had been in the Havy at the same time that I
wan, and we knew each other very well. Talbot and I got along.

Matloff: How about relations with the Joint Chiefs of Staff and its
Chairman? Did you have many dealings with them on questions of substance or
administration?

Henmel: 4is I remembsr, Redford was the Chairman.

Matloff: TYea. Ridgway was the Army representative, Admiral Carney the Navy
CHO, and Twining the Air Force Chief of Staff.,

Henzel: 1 4id not have very much contact with Ridgway. Radford was an old
friend from the Navy days, and so was Carney. I think that we established a

good rapport with the uniformed servicesm. Here was one place where the Nevy

background certainly helped. VWhen the clvlilians arrived at the start of the war,

there wae tremendous conflict with the uniformed forces. We had never known
each other; we had different typea of education. They were starved, in the
sense of thelr economic benefits, and they couldn’t live the msame as the
raat of us did. It took qulite a blt of doing to get to know sach other and
to develop mutual respect, which, I think, we did get. I know Radford was

very willing, Radford and I had become very clome friends. I think that

/7
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the uniformed forces began to realire what we could bring to the Defense
Department, and we recognized what they could bring. The great contribution
that Forrestsl msde to administration, which 1 fear has been completely
forgotten, was that under the Secretary he established sort of a dual line

of suthority. The Assistant Secretary in charge of procuring materiel reported
to Porrestal, not to the Chief of Naval Operations; the Chief of Naval Operatiouns
reported to Forrestzl as Secretary. The Chief of Naval Operations was in
charge of operations, and the principal man in that respect. He told us

what he wanted in the way of materiel. We would never object unlems he was
asking for something of which he already had plenty. His was the final word
in that regard. We found out how to get the materiel, the price to pey for
it, and the like. So there was a split between the administrative business
gide and the operational side. Today, it sll goes up to the Chief of Naval
Operations. I can assure you that he doem not know as much as he should know
sbout the procurement sfde. I think that we carried this approach into the
Defense Department., Thomas was certainly fully aware of it. Anderson caught
on to it wvery quickly, because he was Secretary of the Navy at the start,

and Thomas was over in the Defense Department as one of the Assigtant
Saecretaries of Defense.

Marloff: Pid you sit in on any of the Joint Chiefr of Staff meetings?

Hensel: No.

Matloff: FEven when they met with State, you weren’t in on those?

M‘ Ra.

I
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Matloff: let's focus a little bit on relations with the State Department,
since this obviocusly was where you did have some liaison. With whom were

you consulting there? How much coordination was going on with State

during your tenure?

Hengel: A great deal. I saw & lot of John Poster Dulles. I went in his
plane to Europe when we agreed with Great Britain and France to restore
govereignty to Germsny. I went with him on the Treaty of Paria., I had ay
own plane and used it when we went out to Bangkok on the Southesst Asia Treaty
/D‘tganisation but I was very closely allied with Foater out there.

Matloff: Was there any significant friction or disagreement between the State
Department and the ISA, which was referred to as a "little State Department”
in the Defenae Department?

Hensel: We had a problem when I first advanced the idea that the State
Department should take the responsibility for the policy end. To what extent,
for instance, did State want to rely on Italy to police the Mediterranean?
They did not want to put it down in anything that resembled writing at

first., I remember that young Douglas MacArthur was particularly difficult

on that, but Bob Murphy straightened the matter out rather quickly. He said,
"That, of course, makes sanse.” Then each of us had cur own job, and we

were able to operate in those jobs. I would say that otherwise everything
went very well.

Matloff: The two buresucracies got along well?

Hensel: Yes, because we knew what we were to do. I was not trying to encroach
on them and they were not trying to encroach on mm. I fear that today everybody

is in everybody else's back yard, trying to tell how the lawa ought to be cut.

/3
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Matloff: Let me ask you about your relatious with congressional committees.
Were you, as part of your job, being called before the committees and the
hearings? If so, were you given complete laeway when you gave your testimony?
Bensel: 1 waso't given complete leeway, in the seuse that I was the final
arbiter on how much money we would ask for, and all of that. So far as
dealing with Congress was concerned, I did not have what I would regard as
supervision from Wilson or Kyes. Fred Seaton, the assistant secretary in
charge of congresaional liaison, and I became very close friends and worked
very closely together.

With State and the committees, again my experience with the Navy duriug
the war, I think, helped a great deal. I got along very well with Carl
Vinson during the Navy periocd, after the first meeting, when I went up to see
him, Puffing on his cigar, he turned around to ma, smiled, and said, “Now,
young man, what Wall Street firm did you come from?® And I replied, "Congress—
man, I dide't come from Wall Street; I came from Broad Street.” I was attacked
very severely by the Judge Advocate General, who wanted to do away with ny
legal organizatfion, and there was a long battle in the Vinson committee, in
the course of which I got to know Uncle Carl very well. I could call him
Uncle Carl to his face. We worked up an arrangeseut in which I trusted him
and he trusted me. I never let him down. I think I got that reputation in
Congresa. I saw a lot of Congressmen during the fight over the unification
of the pervices, when I was sort of spearheading the Navy posftion.

Matloff: Had you bdeen in on those discussfons?

Hengel: T was in charge of the presentation of the Navy case.

T
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Matloff: For the 1947 Nationni Security Act?

Hensel: Yes, leading up to ;ﬁit, 1 mean. Lawton Collins proposed a very
tight consolidation, which 1 ;ttncked very severely. But, I think, I was
very, very careful mever to try snything fancy before the Congress, but to be
sbeolutely straight with them.. It stood me in very good stead. I never had
any trouble other than with ﬁccarthy, and that was trumped up.

Matloff: 1 take it that you didn*t feel that you had to clear with the Secretary
of Defense any position that you were going to be taking.

Hensal: I slways cleared it ;gph Seaton, who was speaking for the Secretary
of Defense.

Matloff: How about relations‘with the White House and the National Security
Council? Did you sit in om unf of the National Security Council meetings?
Hensel: No, I did not sit in on them. I knew Sherman Adams very well. His
wife and my wife painted together. Through the McCarthy hearings Sherm
showed his support for we in a mumber of ways. As a matter of fact, he and

I were at the same fishing eamﬁ.at the time that his resignation was more or
lass forced. -

Matloff: Let me come mow to the question of the perception of the threat in
the world. What was the doninﬁnt attitude toward the Soviet threat that you
found in the Department of Defeuse uporn assuming cffice in ISA, 1f you recall?
How serious was it viewed? Di? you agree with 1t? Hefe there differences

of views within 0SD, and with other federal agancies, for example with State
and CIA?

Hensel: I don't thiok that there were many disagreements. I think that it

wae recognized that a Cold War was in progress. If you remember, Dulles was

15
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very, very definite, indicating, “You sre either for us or against us.” He
didn't recognize a lukewarm position, to which I might hsve been more sympa-—
thetic. We pretty much followed the Dulles philosophy and were doing our

best to counteract the effort of the Russians to spread their authority and
influence throughout the world., I think one thing that was true of all the
a8llies—~] remember making this comment in msny speeches--that we had made a

lot of mistakes but I had not encountered a single country that thought we
wanted to take it over or run 1its government. I didn't think the same could

be sald about the Ruseians.

Matloff: ©Did you encounter any differences of perception on the part of
friendly govermments about the nature of the threat? Did they see eye to eye?
Hensel: I can't think of anything.

Matloff: let's look at the question of the New Look policy which the Eisenhower
administration was advocating and its connection with the strategic planning
going on at the time, Do you recall at the time what your view was of the
significance of the New Look that the Eisenhower administration was promulgating?
Remember, along with it went the question of the strategy of massive retalfation.
These were the buzz words of the day. Do you recall how you viewed those at

the time?

Hensel: I have a feeling that this theory of massive retaliation was overdone.
Again ancther newspaper stuat. They spread it. There is no doubt that Foster
Dulleg seid it in one of his speeches. I did not see any plan or program

that really contemplated putting it intc effect, Faster had said many rimes

that he went to the brink. Haybe we did; I don't kvow. I don't think that
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we went to the brink as much as Eennedy did during the Cubsn missile criasis.

I think that there was a great deal of emphasis at that time on our auclear power,
and that there was then more of a belief that it would be effective than there
probably is today. 1 was always somewhat skeptical of its use, not because I
thought it was 8 weak weapon but because I was afraid that it was tog overpowering
a weapon. I can remember saying, "I don't waut to take an elaphant gun to

ashaot a pheasant.” Remember, when we came 1in, the preceding administration

had worked on a progi‘an that set ocut a level of strength four or five years

ic sdvance. That was the level that thay wanted to attain sud then maintain
and were gradually building toward it. The only trouble was, it seemed to

m2, that they were building irregularly. I mean rthat you were getting the
wheels of the car and not the motor. You were going to have the car five vears
from now, but right now you didn’t have anything at all. You had a lot of

spare parts. 1 thought that we ought to go more on the idea of a mechanic.

You remesbar those old Meganno sacs, where you got the girders and the steel
and everything, and then you added things to it, but yon could make something
right to begin with. I was all for concentrating on a program of balanced
growth. 1 think that was pretty much the general idea, so far as building

up our atrength was concerned.

Matloff: Do I understand correctly that ISA was oot drawn im on the formulatfon
of the New Look policy?

Heusel: No. As a matter of fact, I got into more of that in the days when I
was counsel for the Rockefeller Committee and later Geoeral Counsel. Wilsan

did have one concept that T don't think he got too far with, that is, to the
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maximum extent try to buy fﬁr the military items that were in commercial use
and trade. Do not design the specisl ashcan; see if you can't find one

that’s in existence. You will get it cheaper and more regularly,

Matloff: How about the impact of the New Look on the ISA policies, planning,
or implementstion? Did it have a strong effect on the programs that you

and your associates were trying to put into effect?

Hensel: If by the New Look you mean the idea of massive retaliatiom, I

do not think it was translated into practice at all. We wera not dealing with
nuclear weapons in supplying our gllieg or other friendly nations. We were
giving them ordinary guns. In lots of places we were tryiung to get them

vhat might be called police materisls and equipmeant, because it was a question
of restoring law and order to their countries. The sirange story to me

always was in Vietnam, I met Diem. As I had been traveling around and was
"sister moneybags,” everybodytwas asking for this and that. To my great
surprise, Diem said he wantcd’?ety, very few things. He said, "As 2 matter

of fact, if you coul& get me';;b things, I'd be able to deal with this situation.
FPirst, I would like all the cameras I can get. I don't care how old they
are. You koow, I don't know uf population, If I could get pilctures of them
all, it would be a great thing. I could identify them.” He aleo said, "The
other thing I wvant are short wave radios. Today, 1f one of my villages gets
attacked, it has toc send a ruuger off to Saigon. It takes a couple of daye
before he gets here. If I could have short wave radiocs—-I don't care if
they're only 50 or 60 miles 1n;radiun--1 can set up a series of them and get

word very quickly ianto the capital wherever there is trouble.” It seemed

I1Z




P . T vy e bph e L L ST SR T

Page detarmined to be Unclassifiad
Reviewed Chief, RDD, WHS
1AW ED 13528, Section 3.5

P APR 0 8 2013

like a pretty good request. I brought it back. I never knew what happened
to it because I left very shortly after that.

Matloff: This was while you were on the 1SA job?

Hensel: That was the job. I think that we did not have to get iuvolved the
way we did there, but once we had participated in the execution of Diem, T
guess that we were involved,

Matloff: Since we are on this New Look, can we try one other question that
you might consider? Do you believe that Preaident Eisenhower conceived of
the New Look policy primarily as a means of achieving a stable peacetime
economy by reducing defense éoct-. or as an effective and viable strategy
for protecting national security in the Cold Wsr era?

Hensel: TYou are asking me to get inside his head a little bit, dbut I'm not
sure I can do that. I Houid think that he did it for both reasons. I think
that there wa; & belief that we could save money and be Just as effective.
Handling 2 military budget_ia algoat an impossibility. I don't know if you
have ever sat in on the buildup of ome, but I know that when I first became
Asaistant Secretary of the Navy, Forrestal called me in to one of the budget
presentations. I watched these ﬁen in-uniform prance through their charts
and all that sort of stuff, and they came down to a total at the end, When
they 1aft; Forrestal turnedlfo me and said, "Now what do you think?” I
replied, "I haven’t got any gr#ap of it whatsoever. I see a lot of figures.
They multiply ocut accurately, but wvhether they are any good or not, I don'e
know.™ I just remember the matter of planes. Somebody would poatulate thst

we needed 30 squadrons. Now a squadron consists of so mauny. So you multiply

}
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it out, and you come to a fi{gure-—that we nsed a thousand and 53 planea,

The one thing that I knew was wrong was the 3, You can’t figure that closely.
I suspected that the figure should be either 1100 or a thousand. You go all
through that and you get their special requirements for specifications that
are s little out of the ordinary. How you can police that, I just do not
koow., I think McNeil came the closest to being able to deal with ir, but I
don't think there's been a McNeil in some time. I just don't know how they
get hold of 1t. 1 think Eisenhower was aincere im his belief that he could
save money and at the same time defend the country.

Matloff: Let me ask you, while we're on the questions of strategy, did ISA
play any role in strategy-making during your tenure, elither in the formulationm
or the coordination? Was it drawn in at all on tha positions that Defense

or its various parts, particularly the services and the Joint Chiefs of Staff,
ware taking on strategy questious?

Hensel: As I remember, there was & joint committee with State. I don't
know whether somebody else sat in on it. Bob Bowie, I think, was the State
representative. There was an Army officer, a great big fellow attsched to

my organization who attended those meetings and who reported to me and told
me what was going on. Generally I tried to stay out of it. If he came back
and said, "they want you to get such and such an item,” and I thought it was
impossible, I'd speak up. But I tried to stay out of that end of the fleld.
Matloff: We've been talking a little about weapons. Did ISA or

yourself as head have any attitude or positiom om the buildup, the use , and

the control of nuclear wesapons?

2.0
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Hensmel: Ho.

Matloff: On questions of conventional versum muclesr defense, you were not drawn
in on that either?

Hensel: Xo,

Matloff: May I ask cne more question bafore we go on %o other areas? Did

you have any feeling that the ending of the Korean War had significance for
American defense planning and policy in any way? Some pesople have written, of
course, that "massive retaliation” grew out of that. That is one line of thought.
Another involves the lessons drawn by General Tsylor--that we had to get a

more "flexible response” strategy. The threat to Europe was seen by some to

be more urgent after Korea. You remember that the buildup in NATO came quite
guickly on the heela of the attack in Korea. So the events seem to have been
linked. Did you heve any feeling about the impact of the Xorean War on our
defenne policy snd planning?

Hensel: Nothing that I can remember now. So far as our buildup in Burope

wags concerned, we were relying largely on the men we had on the gromnd, who
were telling us what they needed. We were making contributione to internal
order. But I don't remember anything that was startling, and I don't think
there was. I never conmected the enmd of the Korean War with massive retalistion
until you did just then.

Matloff: There are other reascons that have been advanced sbout the origins

of New Look and massive retaliation. Oome have said, for example, that they
raflected the influence of the British, who were thinking along the same lines

et the tims. Others have poinied to the Air Force impact on the doecirine.

=2/
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Hensel: I'm guessing, but I would think that massive retaliation grew out

of the time when we had the b&ab and nobody else did. I don't think that it was
carefully examined once the ﬁﬁssians got it. I don't honestly think that
Foster Dulles was trying to igplement it te any extent,

Matloff: Let's turn to the question of interservice competition and its impact
on the policies, programs, and operations in ISA and on other party of 0SD, if
you care to comment on those. How serious a problem was interservice rivalry
for you in your position in ISA?

Hensel: I did mot hsve much ftouble with it. As a matter of fact, I could say
that I didn't have any trouble with it. I was fully aware of the problem. I
balieve that a certain amount of rivalry is bealthy., It was talked out at
great length during the period of the fight over unification. I don't know

the extent to which it operates today on the budget. But we were coming in
during the aftermmath of the Key West agreements that Forrestal had hammered
out. While I don't think they were deing followed exactly, they were more

or less. I didn't think that there was too much fight over the problem.
Matloff: This 1s the period, to refresh your memory a little, when Generslg
Ridgway and Taylor were Army Gﬁiefs of Staff, and the Army was coustantly

being outvoted in the Joint Chiefs, chiefly on the questicns of roles and
miseions, limited war, and cenventional buildup. General Taylor has described
the period in his writings as the "Babylonian captivity” of the Army.

Hensel: 1 remember all of that. I didn't think that it bad an impact. I
thought I could understand why Army leaders thought they were being shortchanged.

I always thought it was a good bit their own fault when they let the Army Afr
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get asway and establish a separate air force. Then you got into the question
of who coutrols s missile. I thought that it was all their own fault, and I
wasn't too sympathetic with either Ridgway or Taylor.

Matloff: Let's focus on the budget, which you've touched on at a number of
pointe already. What role did:you and your office play in the formulatfon

of the defense budget?

Heusel: Not the Defense budget. We did get drawn in on the military afid
budget. We worked it up by nski?g our various representatives and the various
countries. The military aid representstives worked with the country to which
they were attached, which more or less 6riginated the request for help aund
sid. I don't know the extent to which our representatives made some sug-
geations, but, at any rate, we were presented with a request that the individual
represantative there okayed. We tried to work them all together. We would
ask questions, and we tried to produce a presentation with which we could
then go to Congress. As I toldfypu, I was always worried about the rigidity
of it, even for a year. I made some suggeations which aroused a great deal
of opposition and were not oucuerful, specifically, that we be given certain’
amount of money that we could spend freely. Congress could not see that. I
don't know what the right answer is. I know that extreme rigldity 1s a
mistake. I can understand why Congress was reluctant to give anybody a

blank check. 1 was mot asking for a blank check so much as flexibility in
how the money was spent, and lntTC?ngress put the ceiling om 1it.

Matloff: Cousiderable writing hqa been done about the strong influence

exerted by Secretary of the Treasury George Bumphrey and the budget directors

o~y
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of ths perfod upon national security policy through the budget. Did you

have any feeling that that was a strong influence?

Hengel: I'm sure that it was on the overall amount. I was pretty much given
the ceiling. I never argued very wuch about it, because I always took the posi-
tion that 1 did not know whathar sny of these requests were sound. I could not
aec that far in the future. I never had any trouble with Humphrey.

Matloff: Did the fact that each of the services was presenting its own
budget-—the "vertical approach” to budget making as it is called--have any
impact on your asctivity?

Bansel: No, not on mfine.

Yatloff: Llet's turn to some of the forelgn relations problems that we have
already touched on., You mentioned NATO before, How about your relatioaship
to the NATO alliance? How far were you and ISA involved with NATO policies
and buildup? You already indicated that your office did not get into strategy
queations very much.

Hensel: Thers was nothing of significance that I can remember.

Matloff: What did you see, if you can recall, as NATO's major problems at

the time? Thers was, of course, the questionm of Germany.

Hensel: The restoration of sovereignty to Cermany and the upsetting of the
General Coantract by Mendés-France. That {s what I remember most clearly

about my connection with NATO.

Matloff: 7Tbe question of EDC, the European Defeuse Community propossi?
Hensel: While we were occupying Germany, we kuew that we had to get out of

it somehow. A great deal of work on the lower levels had been put iato

24
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what was called the Genersl Contract, that weas to desl with Cermany's relations
with France, England, and the United States. It was short of a restoration

of sovereignty. Although it had been accepted in the lower levels of the
French goverument, it did aot seem satisfactory to Mendés~France, who

torned it down, We had been looking forward to this great solution of the
German problem, and it suddenly was out of the quastion. That was the first
time 1T went with Foster Dulles to Loudon. We sat down with Eden, who came

up with the idea of the reatoration of movereignty. I've now forgotten the
terminology, but there was in existence a treaty under which we could cperate.
Matloff: The Brussels Treaty?

Hensel: The Brussels Treaty, which had been in existence. But Eden was the
only one who had thought of it. We decided to go forward with the restoration
of sovereignty. So there was & long pericd of negotiation with Msndas-Prance
before he agreed to that. The result was finally accepted at the Treaty

of Paris. That was the major part of the relations with NATO that I had.
Matloff: Largely the German questiou, the relations of Germany to the Ruropean
2lliea?

Hensel: The resolution of that gquestion and the butldup of the Germans.

When I was first there, they did not have a Defense Department. They had an
office headed by a fellow by the name of Blank, I remember Erhard's comlng

to sse me ance in the Defense Department. He was then in charge of the
Treasury, or their equivalent of the Treasury, under Adenauer. He was trying

to ascertain the extent to which ha should supervise the expenditure of

Q5
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monies by the Defense Department and I was trylng to persuade him to stay

out of 1t., I eraid, "Give them a certain amount of money, look to them to do
the job, and criticize them if they didu't do it right, but don't try to dot
every i and crose every t over their shoulder.” I don't know whether I was
persussive. I don't think that he did get into it. Dulles had a great many
contacts with Adenauer, and I was frequently preseat,

Matioff: While we are on the Germasn questioa, this might be a good time to
talk about the rearmament, along with the question of soveraignty. Did you

or your assoclates have any misgivings, at least at first, about the resarmament
of Germany, considering its past history, its leanings to the east as well

as to the west? Some officlals bave commented that they felt some misgivings,
but went along for other important reasons. Do you recall having any such
doubts at all?

Beusel: T think that we always had to face the worry that there was something
built iato the German mentality that was militaristic. Having a German background
myself, I was less taken with that concern because I dido't find any particularly
milicaristic background in myself. I got to know a good many Germaus who did
not have it either. 1 think you always realized there was a danger. You
didn't ignore the problem, but the thought of having a vacuum in the Pitteburgh
of Europe seemed to me to be an imposaibility.

Matloff: There has been some writing aloug the line that NATO itwelf was
designed as much to contain Germeny as to contain the Soviet Union. Do you
believe on the basis of your experfsnce in ISA that there was something to

that?
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Hensel: Say that agein?
Matloff: That NATO itself was designed as much to contain Germany as to con-
tain the Soviet Union-~to bring Germany into an orbit where it could work out
its policies within the allied framework, & nev parinership.
Hensel: I think it accomplished that. I don't know that it was really
designed for that. Once we resiored sovereignty to Germany, we did want
them to be on our side. To that extent, NATO wep & way of inviting them
onto ocur side.
Matloff: TYou spoke before about Mendés-France, and I think that you were
touching on the Buropean defense community idea, the idea that there would be
a European army with contingents from Germany and other European countries.
Prance, that had suggested the original propomal, killed it in the end. Did
you have any feeling as to why that movement had failed?
Henmel: That had all taksn place pretty much whiles I was out of the government.
Matloff: DBatween '52 and 'S4 was the period.
Hensel: I thought it was a little before that, becasuse I was there in '52
end '54, but I was out from sbout "46 to '52. You sure it was after '52?
Hatloff: Yes. The two key eventis were the proposal in ‘52 and ite failure
in '54. Then care the concept of putting Germany into the Western Alliance
iteelf, and not using the European defense community idea as the way of
integrating the Cerman rearmament buildup.
Hensel: I think that the idea of the general compact of the European defense
commumity wemt down the drain pretty much with Mendéa-France, and I thought

that occurred pretty early in my term. I'm moving years up a little bit.

Lo ]
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You're probably more accurate than my memory, but it doesn't strike any chord
in my memory.

Matloff: Did you have the feeling back in your days in ISA that the American
military role in NATO would be permanent or long term? Remember, in the
original discussion of the treaty--before you became involved with it at
all--when Acheson was put on the griddle in Congress on the guestion of
ratifying the treaty, he was asked whether this would be a permanent American
military commifment. He had answersd, "No."” Later on, obviously, he had to
back off from that very definite no. Did you have any thoughts about that?
Hensel: I think I just assumed that it was going to be permanent. I don't
recall any misgivings or any discuaasion about it.

Matloff: Let's switch now to the other part of the world. TYou have already
touched on Diem. Let me ask you this question. As 1 trace the dates, you
came to ISA at the height of the Dien Bien Phu crisis, and s few wesks later
had to deal with the communist takeover of northern Indochlina &g a result of
the Geneva conferenca.

Hensel: Yas. 1 can remember discussing with Admirszl Radford [Chairman, JCS)
the extent to which we would help the Prench with additlional equipment.
Matloff: Can you recall what your impressions at the time were of the
pignificance of these developments~-the crisis in Dien Bien Phu, the failure
of the Franch to hold on there, and the ontcome of the Genmeva conference with
the takeover by the communists soon thereafter in northern Indochina-~for

American security interests?

-
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Hensel: I think that ve were all being guided by what I call the Dulles
theory of "you are either for me or against me.” Therefore at the conclusion
of Dien Bien Phu and the French collapse we pretty much wrote off north
Indochina. I mean that'we expected to lose it. We thought that the south
would be of a completely different philosophy and more democratic. There

was serious consideration of a general plebiscite. We moved away from that
notion with the thought that the northerners would just not permit amy kind
of fair voting there. They were going to vote ms a controlled block and
therefore you could have no fair elections. Certainly during the time that

I was there, we had confidence that Diem could pull it out. If you remember,
he was harassed by those two religious sects that had their own armies. I
can remember sitting with him in the capital room when he said, "Do you know
there are guns that are trained by these two sects on this very room, now,
that could reach us? I asaid that I 4id not. I recall foeling a 1little uncom-
fortable about that concept, which didn't seem to disturb him. Certainly
when I left the Department, I had confidence in Diem. Maybe I was unduly
impresseed by his request for cameras and short-wave radiocs. Lawton Collins
was there in Saigon at that time as our representative. I always thought
that he, too, felt that Diem could pull it out.

Matloff: There was & rather widespread feeling among American officials,

in the wake of theme events in Dien Bien Phu and Geneva, that communism was
on the march and that the free world generally was being put on the defensive.
Do you recall having any such thoughts?

Hensel: T thought that communism was on the march. I would not

have deacribed ocur poaition as being just defensive. We ware
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countering with an effort snd a fight to appeal to theme various countiries.
In the course of that, I made the ptatement that whatever such countries
might think of us, nobody thought that we were trying to take them over.
They could not say the same about the Hussiams.

Matloff: Since we have touched on Dien Bien Phu, I should ask whether ISA
was consulted about any possible American help during that crisis?

Hansel: There was a request for sdditional help, either juat before Dden
Bien Fhu fall or immediately thereafter, that I remember discussing vith
Radford. Whether it came as a formal corsideration or not, I can't novw
remember. But he was very much opposed to the idea of throwing good money
after bed. I certainly was of the same copinion. The French were hopeless.
Prance was not doing well in Indochina. I remember that, even in the south,
when Collins smd I were there, during the trips the French general in charge
nade Trom hies home %o his office down those crowded streets, people had to
Jump out of the wey of hims car. He didn't slow down. It was as though ke
wag saying, "I'm the great man; get the hell out of the way.™ Theat is not a
way to appeal to people. I think that for a long period of iime, when the
French civll servant was sbout to retire, he was ment out to Vietnam, where
by 1little peculations he could accumulate his retirement fund. I believe that
the people knew it. The French had completely lost the confidence of the people.
Matloff: We were éiving military aid to the French in Indochina.

Hensel: Yes, but nothing like what they wanted. They also vanted some more

material help in the sense of fighting men.
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Matloff: Was ISA brought in at all in connsction with the Geneva conference?
Hensel: ¥Xot with it.

Matloff: How about the domino principle? You remember the well-known principle
that was so frequently expressed by Secretary of State Dulles, President
Eiseshower, and other officials, and incorporated into varicus basic policy
documents. As Aspistant Secretary of Defemse, ISA, did you accept this
principle? Was there any serious skepticism, to your knowledge, in ISA or
elsewhere in the administration concerning the validity of the principle?
Hensel: I certainly remember talking about the principle at length. I

don’t think I took it terribly seriously. I had gotten to the Bangkok conference,
where SEATO was established, s little shesd of Dulles, and I had explored arcund
with the different nations out there and met Dulles when he landed. I had

come up with the thought that, domino theory or not, varlous nations were wor-
ried and wanted to know whether we would come to their aid, if they needed it.

1 can Temember that Dulles mat on the plane and sketched out a speech on the
aubject. I said, "I don't think it's what they want to hear. They want to
know, if they ask you, whether the United States will help them. It is not

with the thought of any domino theory or anything, but whether, if they need
help, they can look to 'big brother'.” He recast his whole epeech in the

1ight of that notion. I pever knew that I really understood the domino

theory. I think certainly that sach success breeds confidence that you can

make another try at something else. To that extent, 1# I win one countiry,

I have s better chance of winning the second than I had before I had won the

f£irast. But the idea that everybody would collapse, like domincea, I never ahared.

At
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Matloff: You menticned the ISA, and particularly yourself, playing a part

in the founding of SEATO. Was this an active role in the formulation of the
treaty, as well as in the alliance?

Hengel: It had been agreed upon, before I took on ISA and the Bangkok conference
had been aset up, to formulate the finsl treaty. I did participate in the
Bangkok conference. I was one of Dulles's aides and assigtants and to the
extent that help was uneeded from the Defense Department I was there to encourage
or discourage. S0 I was there through the whole treaty negotiation, snd was
familiar with it.

Matloff: Can you recall, after the Geneva couference, did Indochina continue

to be a crisis area from your vantage point, or was the situatfon reasonably
stabilired for the time being?

Hensel: I don't think that I can say that it wes a crisis poiut, and I dou'’t
think that I cao say it was stabilized. It was a difficult problem. You had to
get the Freunch out of the southern part. I don't remembar how that phase

was finally terminated and the Freach gemeral left. You had Diem, who was
somewhat of a Christisn., TYou also had these two religious smects which had
religious beliefs that were paft Buddhism, part Christianity, and some othey
strange mixtures. You had refugees, moreover, from the north that you had

to settle. 1 can remember going out to inspect one of the camps just ocutside

of Saigon that they had set up. It was an uvnsettled community and there was

a question of how much we were going to do for it. While I did not get into

the economic side of it, I came back and said, "The requests for military

8id are on the low side: for God'sz sazke, give it to them.”

(&
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Matloff: Apart from Indochirna and Germany, which you have discussed, what
were the prineips]l trouble mpots or issues during your tenure as Assistant
Secretary of Defense, ISA? For example, during your term, the Cuatamalan

erisis came up. Was ISA in any way invelved in that?

Hensel: Not particularly. Ve knew of it and I was quite aware of it. We were
more into it than was revealed publicly st that time, but I can't recall our
having taken any action in connection with it.

Matloff: Any other crimes?

Hensel: I can't recall them now. That is a long time ego and my memory is
short.
Matloff: You are doing very well. Thie is back about 30 years. Let's talk

a 1little about Cold War policiea. We've touched on a number of them in the

procesa of our discuseion. How effective was military aid, on the basis of

your experience, aa & tool for political leverage in the Cold War?

Hensel: T think that if we had not done something, Russia would have moved

into many more spots. I remember during the Italian praoblema, when Clare Luce

was ambassador, or ambassadreas, there, the first time I met her she said,
"You know, the whole point of military aid ie to stop Italy from becoming

communist.” I replied, "It may have that effect, but that is not going to

be my approach. I think that it's a question of making Italy scund, and
you're going to have to work out your fight with communism on some other
basis.” She always used to temse me about how I scared her with that.

Scaring Clare Boothe is very difficult for any man %o do, so I know I didn’'t

do it. But we did have that slight difference. I never hesrd from her

g3
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again on that subject. All of ocur activities were directed Just to making
Italy a stronger power militarily, rather than saying, "1If you don't step on
the communist union . . . .” I forget where the unions were but I know they
were particularly difficult in the Fiat setup. We never made that a condition.
Matloff: Do I understand correctly that ISA was drawn in both on the formula-
tion and the implementation of the military aid program?

Hensel: T think we were im on the formulation to this exeat. We had che
representatives out in the field, who got the requﬁsts from the individual
countries, forwarded them to Washington, where we at least totaled then up.

I don't think that we had a terrible lot of influence on deciding what the
total amount was going to be. But we did have the problem of paring it down
to that amount.

Matloff: Did 05D encounter any major problems in administering the military
assistance program during Wileon's adminigtration?

Hensel: None that I can remewber.

Matloff: How sbout overseas bases? Did 0OSD or ISA take the lead in developing
overseas bases, or did the services handla that problem?

Hensel: No, the services did. As I said, we had problems with some countries.
We have been talking about Italy. It reminds me of the rime when we were
Planning to send a number of planes to Italy, which the government had said

it wanted. When I got over to ﬁély on one of my trips, I found out that

Italy had pamsed a tax law which imposed a tax on avistion fuel, even on the
government. Consequently, the air force budget had been seriously cramped

by this tax, and the airmen did not have the money to fly the planes, as
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much as they should. Ae a result, there had been accidents, and they lomt
some planes. I remember sitting with the Minister of Defense in Italy and
saying that I was very disturbed about it. He responded, “There is nothing
that I can do."™ I said, "No, I don't suppose there ias. The only thing is
that, when I get back to Washington, I am going to have to tell cur government
that you are losing planes becauss you aren't able to fly them and practice
enough. I can just hear my Congress saying, 'We can't send you those planes
that we're promising for the three months from now.'" The tax was withdrawn
before I got cut of Rome. There vere a few little problems like that, but
they were never very seriocus.

HMatloff: Let's turn to the question that you have fouched on, your rergpectives
on the 03D organigzation and management. Looking back at the experience in
vhich you were engaged, you talked about the reorganization in 1953. I take
it that from your perspective you considered the organiszation of the Defense
Department under that reorganization effective. Am I concluding correctly?
Hensel: Yes, I think you are.

Matloff: As a result of your experience both as General Counsel and as ISA
heed, do you have any thoughts about the need for any more changes in the
top levels within DoD, or in the relations between the top levels of DoD
with the State Department and National Security Council in the national
decision making apparatus?

Hensel: I can't may that I kpow how it is run now, and I don't know exactly
how many of the changes have lasted. I assums that most of the assistant

secretaries are still in existence. I know that my old ISA has been split
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into two parts, about which I have expressed a great deal of skepticism. I
am not sure that that is a wise idea. I don't know how that is working.

But, otherwise, sitting in on the Rockefeller Committee, I thought the recom—
mendations made sense. 1 think it most important to get the right men. You
can work out the best organization chart in the world, and a couple of inef-
fective and inefficient people can wreck it. You can have the worst organi-
zation chart in the world, and a couple of very good men can make it go. I
am not a grear fellow for charts, because I don't think that the charts do

the work; men do the work.

Matloff: You would emphasize people, then, rather than the structure of the
organization?

Hengel: Yes, I think tﬁat‘s important, If you can get both together, then you
have the perfect syatem. I don't mean to denigrate the idea of & sound organi-—
zation, because there is no sense in putting a capable man into a position

and then tying his hand behind his back.

Matloff: 7You talked earlier asbout Wilson. I wonder if I could ask you to

give some thumbnail sketches of the personalities, styles, and effectiveness

of the various people with whom you worked in the 05D?7 We can bold Wilson

for the while., I thiok that you wmentioned that you thought highly of Anderson.
Are there any others that you would be willing to comment on~—for example,
Badford?

Hensel: Radford, I thought, was tops; an extraordinarily capable fellow,

who had been a very close friend during the Navy days. Thomas was good.
Chariie just died, you know.

i s
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Matloff: How aboyt Secretatry of the Army Stevens?

Hansel: I thought that Stevans got into the McCarthy mess where he dida't
have to. I think that Bob, who had a good reputation in commercial 1ifas,
was not adapted to the govermment game, as often happens. He didn't under—
atand it, but he was quite sure that he knew it bettar than anybody else. I
don't want te review all of the details about the growth of that McCarthy-Army
fight, which, as 1 say, I thought wae unnecessary. At least I didn't thiok
that Stevens had to get into it that way. He did vot consult me on it. I
was not involved in the sitwation, in spite of McCarthy's saying that I was.
I did not think that Talbot was an effective Secratary of tha Alr Force;
lewin, vho was his ageistant, I thought was a much sounder fellow and did a
muck better job.

Matloff: How abouf McNeil?

Hensel: McNeil was axtraordinarily good, but, then again, be was one of ay
finds., I was the oune that put him into the position of Camptroelliar of the
Navy. It was just great luck. 7T can't remsmbar that I knew Mac much before
then. But we ware casting around for someone, and I kumew a number of the
accounting people that had come into the Navy Department, like Paul Grady
from Price Waterhouse, and Herold Stvart. They had recommended McNeil. 1
haed met him a couple of times. The more you saw of him, the more he graw om
you. He was very, very cspable. As a matter of fact, my falling out with
Stevens came over McNeil. I can remember very clearly that I was at a dincoer
party on R Street, at Bill Foster's housa. After dinner Stevens began to

complain to me about McNeil's effect on the Army budget. I sald, "I will
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Matloff: How about Secretary of the Army Stevens?

Hensel: I thought that Stevens got into the McCarthy mess where he dida't
have to. I think that Bob, who had a good reputation in commercial life,
was not adapted ta the government game, as often happens. He didn't under—
stand it, but he was gquite sure that he knew it better than anybody else. I
don't want to review all of the details about the growth of thar McCarthy-Army
fight, which, as I say, 1 thought was unnecessary. At least I dido't think
that Stevens had to get intc it that way. He did not consult me on it, I
was not Iinvelved in the situvation, in spite of McCarthy's waying that I was.
1 did not think that Talbot was an effective Secretary of the Air Force;
Lewls, who was his assistant, I thought was a much sounder fellow and did a
much better job.

Matloff: How about McNeil?

Hengel: McNell was extraordinarily good, but, then agsin, he was one of my
finds. I was the one that put him into the position of Comptroller of the
Navy., It was Jjust great luck. I can't remember that I knew Mac much before
then, But we were casting around for someone, and I knew a oumber of the
accounting people that had come into the Navy Department, like Paul Grady
from Frice Waterhouse, and Harold Stuart. They hed recommended McNefl, I
hed met bhim 8 couple of times. The more you saw of him, the more he grew om
you. Be was very, vary capahle. As a matter of fact, my falling out with
Stevens came over McNell. I can remember very clearly that 1| wes at a dinner
party ou R Street, at Bill Foster's house. After dinner Stevens begsn to

complain to me about McNeil's effect on the Army budget. I said, "I will
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meke only two suggestions. Do oot get into a battle with McNeil about the
facts, because that's the one thing he will have absolutely accurate. TYou
can fight McNeil on the conclusions that he draws from the facts, but don't
challenge him on the facts.” He replied, "It's the facts that I want to
challenge him on. My men tell me thet he's all wromg.,” I said, "I will
wager right now that your men are wrong.” It developed into & rather unpleasant
conversation at the end of a dinoer party. Stevens rever consulted me again
until he was driven to it by the McCarthy thing breaking around his neck.
Matloff: Any other comments about the Joint Chiefs, other than the Chairman?
Hensel: Admirsl Carney was good. I kpoew him very well. 1 did not really
get to know General Ridgway at all well. I did get to know Nate Twining and
General Shepherd.

Matloff: TLet's focus a little on Secretary Wilson. How would you characterize
him as an administrator of the Defense Department? Did you consider that

bis administration on balance was effective? Did he choose able subordinates
and associstes? Did he shop around for advice, or did he rely on a few
trusted advisors? What was his philosophy of management and organizatioun?
Hengel: I did vot think that it was good. I thought that he was a poor
admiuvistrator. He had grown up in the production side of General Motorsa.

I came to the conclusion that the great administration in General Motors was
done on the financiasl side, with which he had 1ittle contact, although he

was president of the company. His spproach to administration was to get you
in the room and try to talk a subject to death until you agreed with what he

was going tc say rather than his making a decision. I don't koow whether he

Lo

&




e T TR bt B o L R ER R L e et it T L

Page determined to be Unclassifieg
Reviewsd Chief, RDD, WH3
1AW BO 13626, Sastion 3.5

osefPR O 8 2013

" disliked making a decision, or whether he thought that it was better that he
wear you down with talk. Dinner time would be coming and he would go on
talking. I can remewber saying to him when I was Ceneral Counsel, "Look, if
you are going to issue a directive, I want you to get the directive written
snd signed. Send for the man whom it's going to affect, and let him see
that it is written and signed, and then explain it to him. But don't lat
the fact that he has & chance to change your mind ever cross his mind.” As I
say, I think that all of his approaches to problems had to be in relation to
his experience in General Motors. 1 caun remenber the blg row I had with him
about research. You remember his famous statement: *I'm not interested in
why grass is green or why toast turns brown.” He told me very seriously,
"Our research programs are a mistake because we found ocut in General Motors
that research was & waste mmless you could reduce it to practice within a
year.” 1 said, "We're unot selling automobiles. I can understand why you
don't want to get too far ahead of your existing cars, beceuse you have a
gecond hand market to worry about, and 1f you destroy that, you probably
won't sell the new ones. So you've gome aboutr trying to creep up on it
gradually. But if 1 can start some Tesearch here that would get me an unusual
weapon five years from now, believe me, 1 would start workiang on it.” He
could not see that. As he said, “What is good for Ganeral Motors is good
for the country.” I don't think Kyes wae any better.

Matloff: 1I1f you had to anawer the queation, "Wae he effective as a link
between the Department of Defemse and higher suthority, was be able to make

the Department of Defense a useful instrument of natfonal policy, and at the
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same time protect its interests within the federai bureaucracy,” what would
vou say?

Heusel: I would say that he did wot accomplish anything in either direction.
But I don't think that hurt the Defemse Department very much, because 1

think there were pecple in Defense who did have the respect of others.
Matloff: Did he develop an understanding of the conplexities of national
security policy and problema?

Hensel: 1 don't think so.

Matloff: Was he able to rise above the level of executing the President's
policies and programs as directed?

HBensel: I think that bhe probably did cootribute a certain amount of impetus to
the idea of trying to buy items in commercial use. How effective he was
otherwise, I would be skeptical. T doa't think that Secretary of the Treasury
Humphrey had much use for him. I think that his relating everything back to
General Motors made it impossible to take him too seriocusly. When a fellow
seriously says, "1 know how to deal with the Russiaus; they're like labor
uniouns,” you don't listen to him much wore.

Matloff: This touches on the question of whether he was able significantly

to influence the development of national security policies through hds position

4n the Cabinet and the National Sscurity Council.

Hengel: I didn't sait in on thosea, so I can’t really comment.

Matloff: Did he ever express any views ahout disarmament or arms control?
Hensel: Not to me.

Matloff: Let's talk a little bit about the E{senhower presidency, which is

interesting scholars these days. The view of the Eisenhower presidency is
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undergoing considerable change as a result of the feeling of scholars now,

of some scholars at least, that Eisenhower wae an activist president, contrary
to the earlier view that he was passive or even negative, and was letting

his advisors run with the show. The revisionists are writing now about the
"hidden hand” presidency.

Hensel: That's Greeunstein.

Matloff:

From your vanrage point in ISA, aund from your perspective in connection

with the Eigenhower role in internaticual security affairs, can you shed any

iight ar all op this question?

Hensel: I would say that my experience would be more along the Greenstein

theory of "the hidden haud,” that Eisenhower was exarting a great deal of
influence. I thought that it was a good administration. I don't think that

he did as much to develop the political side of the Republican Party as

perhaps he might have done. I think that he was probably = better Presildent

than he was head of the Republican Party.

Matloff: Did you get any glimmei}ngn of the Eipenhower—Dulles relationship?
Hensel: I think it was close.

Matloff: Was one dominating the other?

Hensel: 1 don't think that I would express it that way. I would say that

there was no doubt that Dulles accepted Eisenhower as the boss. I thionk, on

the other hand, that, unless Eisenhower had serious questions, he would defer

to Foster in Fomter's particular field.

Matloff: Could you get any glimmer of the relations between Eisenhower and Wilson?

Hensel: I would say this. I got the feeling that Seaton, who was an Assistant
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SBecretary of Defense and who later became Secretary of the Interior, and im
the interval was over in the White House as Assistant to the Preaident,

was much closer to the White House than Wilgon. Most of Wilson's dealings
with the White House were with Seaton. I had a lot of contacts with Sherman
Adams and I never kmew Sherman to have any with Wilson.

Matloff: Let me now ask you the last question. You have already spoken
about what you regard as your achievements in satting up the General Counsel's
office. Would you now look at your tenure in ISA7 What would you regard as
your major achievement or achlevements during that period?

Hengel: I would think that it was the idea of working out with the State
Department--I don't know whethar it has lasted or not-—the idea that State
would determine policy and ISA and I would try to implement {t, as best we
could. T think that it was a division of work that is sound. Again, I was
working with Murphy and Merchant, and maybe it was becauss of the people. I
bhad confidence in them and I thionk they had a certain confidence in me, 1
think that is terribly important. It is ome of the unsolved problems of our
goverument, because each time that we change an edministration, we get a lot
of new people in who don't always know each other. The great advantage of
the British Civil Service is the fact that they all koow each other. They
have all gone to the same schools. I don’t whether it is that which causes
thes to trust each other. Maybe they trust the éight ones and don't trust
the ones who should not be trusted. During the war, a lot of us came out of
New York law offices, aud places like that. We did know each other, and

that was 8 great help.
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Sacretary of Defense snd who later became Secretary of the Interior, and in
the interval was over in the White House as Assistant to the President,

was much closer to the White House than Wilson. Most of Wilson's dealings
with the White House were with Seaton. I had a lot of contacts with Sherman

Adams and I never knew Sherman to have any with Wilson,

Matloff: Let me now ask you the last question. You have already spoken

about what you regard as your achievements in setting up the Ceneral Counsel's
office. Would you now look st your tenure in ISA? What would you regard as
your major achievemant or achievemants during that period?

Hensel: I would think that it was the ides of working out with the State
Department--1 don't know whether it has lasted or not-~the idea that State
would determine policy and ISA and I would try to implement it, as bast we
could. T think that it was a division of work that is sound. Again, I was
working with Murphy and Merchant, and maybe it was because of the people. I
had confidence in them and I think they had & certain confideunce in me. I
think that is terribly important. It is one of the unsolved problems of ocur
government, because each time that we change an adminiatration, we get a lot
of pew people in who don't always know each other. The great advantage of
the British Civil Service is the fact that they all know each other. They
have all gona to the same schools. I don't whether it is that which causes
them to trust esch other. Maybe they trust the right ones and don't trust
the ones who should not be trusted. During the war, a lot of us came out of
New York law offices, and places like that. We did kpow each other, and

that was a great help.
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Hatloff: Let me ask you thg'cbnwerue question. Yours was a relatively short
tenure. Was anything left urdone that you wished could have been completed?
What disappointed you the most at the eund of the tenure?

Hengel: That I was never able to get my ideas of the flexible budget across,
rather than the idea that we had to have a rigid system—for example, France
will get so many t;nks over the.next number of years, no more, uo less. I
would much rather have been chq;ged with accomplishing missions, and be
given a certain amount of flexibility during the course of the year to
achieve those missious.

Matloff: Thank you very much, Mr. Hemsel, for sharing your recollections

and comments with us.

Hensel: You are entirely welcome. I've had a good time reliving the past.
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